
Please ask for Christine Morgan: Telephone 01775 764454 
e-mail: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

AGENDA

Committee - PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL

Date & Time - Tuesday, 16 May 2017 at 6.30 pm

Venue - Meeting Room 1, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding

Membership of the Performance Monitoring Panel:

Councillors: B Alcock (Chairman), G R Aley, J R Astill, M D Booth (Vice-Chairman), 
C J T H Brewis, T A Carter, R Clark, G K Dark, P C Foyster, R Grocock, J L King, 
J D McLean, A M Newton, A C Tennant and J Tyrrell

Substitute members on the Performance Monitoring Panel may be appointed only 
from members who are not on the Cabinet.  Substitutions apply for individual 
meetings only. 

Quorum: 5

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn their mobile telephones to 

silent mode

Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE

Date:   8 May 2017



A G E N D A

1. Apologies for absence. 

2. Minutes 
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the following meetings:
a)  Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development 

Panel - 24 January 2017 (copy enclosed)
(Pages 
1 - 8)

b)  Performance Monitoring Panel - 7 February 2017 (copy enclosed) (Pages 
9 - 22)

3. Declaration of Interests. 
Where a Councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor 
must declare the interest to the meeting and leave the room without 
participating in any discussion or making a statement on the item, 
except where a councillor is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of 
dispensation.

4. Questions asked under Standing Order 6.

5. Tracking of Recommendations 
To consider responses of the Cabinet to reports of the Panel.

6. Items referred from the Policy Development Panel. 

7. Key Decision Plan 
To note the current Key Decision Plan.

(Pages 
23 - 28)

8. Drainage in the South Holland Area 
The meeting will be attended by the following representatives:

Regional Flood and Coastal Committee

Regional Flood and Coastal Committees (RFCCs) help to provide 
governance for the Environment Agency Flood and Coastal Erosion risk 
management functions and cover all flood risks that are not the 
responsibility of the water companies. They have replaced the Regional 
Flood Defence Committees which previously existed. There are 
currently 12 Committees across England.

RFCCs have three main purposes:

•to ensure there are coherent plans for identifying, communicating and 
managing flood and coastal erosion risks across catchments and 
shorelines

•to promote efficient, targeted and risk-based investment in flood and 
coastal erosion risk management that optimises value for money and 
benefits for local communities

•to provide a link between the Environment Agency, LLFAs, other risk 
management authorities, and other relevant bodies to develop mutual 
understanding of flood and coastal erosion risks in its area



Eddie Poll was appointed Chair of the Anglia (Northern) Regional Flood 
and Coastal Committee (RFCC) on 1 July 2015.  This role was 
confirmed by DEFRA (Department of Environment, Food and Rural 
Affairs) and runs until 30 June 2018. Mr Poll will be in attendance at the 
meeting.

Welland and Deepings Internal Drainage Board

The Welland and Deepings Internal Drainage Board is an autonomous 
public body under the direct control of the Board members.  The Board 
has 12 elected members and 13 members appointed by local authorities 
within its area of Boston Borough Council, Peterborough City Council, 
South Holland District Council and South Kesteven District Council.  

The Board’s area covers approximately 32,400 hectares from Sutterton 
(near Boston) in the north to Werrington (near Peterborough) in the 
south. The Board maintains some 660km of surface water drains and 
sewers and has 14 pumping stations and 3 tidal sluices.  The Board also 
manages over 70 water level management structures.

Karen Daft, Chief Executive and Nick Morris, Operations Director will be 
in attendance at the meeting.

9. Performance Overview Report - Quarter 4 2016/17 
To provide an update on Council performance for the period 1 January 
2017 to 31 March 2017 (report of the Executive Member for Strategy, 
Governance and Transformation is enclosed).

(Pages 
29 - 50)

10. Swimming Pool and Leisure Facilities Contract Task Group 
To provide Members with an update on the recommendations of the 
Swimming Pool and Leisure Facilities Contract Task Group – update on 
progress of recommendations (report of the Executive Director – Place).

(Pages 
51 - 58)

11. Final Report of the Re-Letting of Void Properties Task Group 
To consider the final report of the Re-Letting of Void Properties Task 
Group (report of the Executive Director – Place is to follow).

(To 
Follow)

12. Performance Monitoring Panel Work Programme
To set out the work programme of the Performance Monitoring Panel 
(report of the Executive Manager – Governance is enclosed).

(Pages 
59 - 68)

13. Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent - 

NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 
circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the 
Chairman is of the opinion that the item(s) should be 
considered as a matter of urgency.



This page is intentionally left blank



- 13 -

Minutes of a meeting of the JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL AND 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, 
Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 24 January 2017 at 6.30 pm.

PRESENT

B Alcock
G R Aley
D Ashby
J R Astill
M D Booth

C J T H Brewis
T A Carter
L J Eldridge
P C Foyster
R Grocock

J L King
J D McLean
A M Newton
J Tyrrell
A R Woolf

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors R Clark, 
G K Dark, A Harrison, M J Pullen, J L Reynolds and A C Tennant.

In Attendance:  The Shared Executive Director Commercialisation, the Interim Chief 
Accountant and the Democratic Services Officer.

Action By
21. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN 

Councillor Alcock was elected Chairman for the duration of the 
meeting. 

22. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

There were none. 

23. GENERAL FUND AND HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 
DRAFT ESTIMATES 2017-18 AND FINANCIAL MEDIUM TERM 
PLAN 

The Panels received a report by the Executive Director 
Commercialisation which set out the General Fund and Housing 
Revenue Account 2017-18 draft revenue and capital estimates 
and the draft Financial Medium Term Plan

The financial medium term plan set out the framework within 
which the budget was to be set, to ensure that it enabled the 
Council to achieve its own corporate objectives.  The report 
highlighted General Fund and Housing Revenue Account 
estimates.  The attached appendices set out the draft General 
Fund and Housing Revenue Account estimates and supporting 
papers.  Although there was a balanced budget in 2017-18, the 
revenue estimates would require further efficiencies in order to 
produce balanced and sustainable budgets.  

The existing four year capital programme had been amended to 
reflect revised budgets and scheme forecasts.  The Council had 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2.a)



- 14 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 24 January 2017

limited resources to finance all of these schemes and final 
decisions were still to be made on significant capital projects, 
such as Priory Road, future refuse vehicle replacement and any 
future investment in growth projects such as the Food Enterprise 
Zone.  Decisions on Priory Road and future asset projects would 
have a significant impact on the funding and potential receipts the 
Council had available.

The budget had entered a consultation period, with responses 
invited from residents and businesses through the Council’s 
website, and also through the Joint Panel’s budget scrutiny 
meeting.  Final estimates would be presented to Cabinet on 14 
February 2017, with a recommendation for approval to Council on 
22 February 2017.

In response to the 2016/17 Settlement, the Council successfully 
applied for the Government’s  four year Local Government 
Finance Settlement offer, using the Moving Forward programme 
as the basis of the efficiency plan.  The provisional Settlement 
consultation paper for 2017-18 was released on 15 December 
2016, and the key components of the Settlement were:

 Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and Four Year Settlement – 
The value of the four year RSG settlement had not changed 
so there was no impact compared to the budget set last year.

 New Homes Bonus (NHB) – The consultation included a 
number of changes to New Homes Bonus which would reduce 
the amount the Council received by £511,000 over the 
medium term, which would impact on resources available for 
Investment and Growth.

 Rural Services Delivery Grant (RSDG) – This grant was to 
remain although to date, the actual amounts had not been 
released.

 Business Rates – The recent valuation of business rates took 
effect from 1 April 2017.  This was a revenue neutral exercise 
nationally however, at a local level, bills and income could rise 
or fall dependent on the mix of businesses in an area.  Further 
work was now being carried out to determine the impact to 
South Holland District Council.

The draft budget included assumptions for these areas and these 
would be updated once further information became available.

Despite the challenges of reduced funding and economic 
uncertainty, the Council remained in a relatively secure financial 
position across the medium term, with no dependency on 
reserves.  The draft budget continued to support the principal of 

Page 2



- 15 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 24 January 2017

reducing reliance on RSG to nil from 2019-20 and providing 
funding for both investment and growth funds.

The Medium Term Financial Plan included annual savings of over 
£800,000 by 2019/20 as a result of targeted action and 
investment through the Council’s Moving Forward Programme.

Further review would take place during January, including an 
update of the Tax base and Collection Fund position (NNDR and 
Council Tax) and a review of Moving Forward Programme targets.  
Efficiencies implemented through the Moving Forward 
Programme meant that the Council was able to produce a 
balanced budget in 2017/18 although the final settlement details, 
revised tax base and the Collection Fund position were still to be 
finalised.

The Panels also received a presentation from the Interim Chief 
Accountant, which expanded on information provided within the 
report.  Councillors noted that the Strategic Objectives were:

 To be a financially independent Council and free from reliance 
on Government Funding by 2019-20

 Moving Forward Programme
 To generate additional revenue streams
 To invest in service improvements to improve Value for Money
 
The following capital spending priorities had been identified:

 Affordable Housing
 Priory Road
 Other growth projects – Food Enterprise Zone; Ayscoughfee; 

South Holland Centre (short and long term issues; leisure 
facilities (short and long term issues)

 Refuse vehicle replacement programme

Capital growth bids included within the budget were as follows:

 Priory Road Project  - £2.7million 2017-18 (funding from 
reserve)

 Grounds maintenance equipment replacement – included 
£50,000 in 2017-18 (from reserve)

 Vehicle replacement – Approximate 7 year life from 2014-15, 
draft included £0.3million in 2019-20 and 2020-21 – subject to 
service review

 Holbeach Food Enterprise Zone - £1.091million in 2018/19
 Unallocated amounts – 2017/18 -£1million; 2019/20 - 

Page 3



- 16 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 24 January 2017

£1.395million; 2020/21 - £1.395million
 Ayscoughfee and  South Holland Centre – no specific 

provision

Members raised the following issues:

 Why had no specific provision been allocated to Ayscoughfee 
and the South Holland Centre?

o The Panel was advised that there were indicative 
figures available for the Holbeach Food Enterprise 
Zone and Priory Road projects however, these were 
subject to detailed business cases being drawn up and 
agreed by the Council.  The South Holland Centre and 
Ayscoughfee projects were not as advanced and 
therefore had no specific amounts allocated to them.  
However, these assets would need to be considered as 
part of the Capital Programme and Moving Forward 
project.

 The cost of the Priory Road project was substantial – was this 
the full cost? The Panel felt it was necessary for members to 
scrutinise the cost and the Panel was advised that the 
business case was currently being looked at, and that the cost 
had been properly assessed by experts within the field.  The 
Leader had already confirmed that members would have the 
opportunity to scrutinise the project in the future.

 There were continued concerns with regard to leisure services 
, specifically whether provision was being considered for the 
long term.

o The Panel was advised that, as with Ayscoughfee and 
the South Holland Centre, there was currently no 
provision for the long term.   However there were 
opportunities around leisure that could be picked up.

 Members responded that they would be very pleased if this 
was brought forward as leisure did contribute to the economic 
development of the area.

 The General Fund Capital Programme detailed within the 
presentation indicated a £330,000 forecast for 2016/17 and 
£78,000 for 2017/18 – further clarification was requested as to 
whether the spend was correct, as the site in question had 
been handed over to the travellers 

o Members were advised that the £330,000 was to be 
spent in the current year and the £78,000 was for 
phasing next year.  However, the situation with regard 
to ownership of the site and requirement for spend 

Page 4



- 17 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 24 January 2017

would be clarified and members informed.

 Members commented that with regard to the General Fund 
Estimates by Income and Expenditure 2016/17 to 2017/18 
table detailed at Appendix A to the report, and the equivalent 
table included within the presentation, there appeared to be 
variances within the information provided.  The Panel was 
advised that the information was the same on both tables, the 
difference being how the use of reserves was shown in 
expenditure.  It was agreed that members would be provided 
with a breakdown on the use of reserves, and that this would 
be built into the final report going forward.

 Members questioned why, within the table detailing changes 
from 2016/17 budget (within the presentation), a cost of 
£119,000 for District Elections 2019/20 was added for both 
2019/20 and 2020/21.

o Officers would check why this was the case and report 
back to members.

The following Medium Term Financial Plan risks and opportunities 
had been identified:

Risks
 Non Domestic Rates
 Non Domestic Rates – set aside for Power Station appeal
 Detailed Budget Review
 Internal Drainage Board (IDB) Levies

Opportunities – there could be opportunities available to mitigate 
any ongoing pressures, which included:
 Review of assets (including Priory Road)
 Increased efficiency targets, such as further reductions from 

service reviews in later years
 Potential business rates growth
 Continuation of work with additional income streams
 General Fund Services and Housing Revenue Account 

Services shared service

Members raised the following issues:

 Had the Authority taken into account the possible risk of an 
appeal against Non Domestic Rates from the Power Stations?

o A provision had been built into the budget for this 
eventuality, and the situation was being monitored.

Page 5



- 18 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 24 January 2017

 Any impact at a local level following the recent valuation of 
Business Rates had to be monitored carefully – was this being 
done?

o Officers had discussed this issue with the Portfolio 
Holder for Finance, and work was being undertaken to 
look at how areas may be affected within the district. 

 Not all IDBs used the same pension scheme – had this been 
taken into account?

o The current forecast was based on a freeze of levies, 
although possible issues with the IDBs had been 
identified.  An increase in levies had not been taken into 
account, and an agreed position with the boards had to 
be arrived at.

Members were advised of the following key HRA Budget 
Assumptions:

 1% rent reduction per year
 Assumed Right to Buy loss of 20 properties per year
 Additional net rent from new affordable housing units built in

Members raised the following points:

 There was a continued loss of houses through the Right to 
Buy scheme however, affordable housing continued to be built 
– would one not compensate for the other?

o Members were advised that the number of houses built 
exceeded the number of those sold however,  the 
reduction of 1% in rent year on year particularly 
impacted the figures – after year 4, this would build to a 
4% decrease. This could not be covered by new 
housing.

 In order to qualify for the New Homes Bonus, how many 
houses would have to be built to achieve this?

o Officers would ascertain this figure and advise 
members.

The Councillors thanked the Interim Chief Accountant and 
Executive Director Commercialisation for their clear presentation 
and responses to questions.

AGREED:

a) That the report and presentation be noted;

Page 6



- 19 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 24 January 2017

b) That leisure be included within the budget programme in the 
future;

c) That the risks associated with achieving increased income 
from various areas such as commercialisation, house building 
etc, that was required to mitigate  scarce resources and future 
economic uncertainty relating to interest rates and Brexit, be 
acknowledged; and

d) That Panel members be provided with clarification on the 
following points:

i. That the situation with regard to ownership of the travellers 
site referred to in relation to spend within the General Fund 
Capital Programme be clarified – if it had been handed 
over to the travellers, was this spend still required?

ii. That following  a question regarding perceived variances in 
information detailed within the General Fund Estimates by 
Income and Expenditure 2016/17 to 2017/18 table detailed 
at Appendix A to the report, and the equivalent table 
included within the presentation,  members be provided 
with a breakdown on the use of reserves, and that this be 
built into the final report going forward.

iii. That officers ascertain whether costs of £119,000 should 
be allocated to 2019/20 and 2020/21 budgets, for District 
Elections in 2019/20.

iv. That officers confirm how many new houses would have to 
be built per annum to qualify for the New Homes Bonus. 

MA 

MA 

MA, CM 

24. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
URGENT 

There were no urgent items. 

(The meeting ended at 8.02 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



- 27 -

Minutes of a meeting of the PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL held in the 
Meeting Room 1, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 7 February 
2017 at 6.30 pm.

PRESENT

B Alcock (Chairman)
M D Booth (Vice-Chairman)

G R Aley
J R Astill
C J T H Brewis
T A Carter

R Clark
G K Dark
P C Foyster
R Grocock

A M Newton
A C Tennant
J Tyrrell

In Attendance:  The Executive Director Place, the Corporate Improvement and 
Performance Manager, the Environmental Services Manager, the Business 
Intelligence Officer, the Democratic Services Officer and Councillor G Taylor 
(Portfolio Holder, Communities and Facilities).

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors J L King and 
J D McLean.

Action By
30. REVIEW OF IMPLEMENTED PLANNING DECISIONS 

With the permission of the Chairman, this item was considered as 
the first item of business at the meeting.

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director of 
Place, updating the Panel on the response from Planning 
Committee to the Panel’s recommendations. 

The Panel had made the following recommendations to the 
Planning Committee:

a)
 That consideration of evidence on viability of housing 

schemes is more transparent and robustly challenged 
to ensure the delivery of schemes as originally 
approved.  It is suggested that the District Valuer (or 
equivalent) is contacted with a view to exploring 
member training on viability.

 That greater consideration is given to the design and 
layout of housing development through the exploration 
of the potential for a specific Supplementary Planning 
Document to be produced as part of the emerging Local 
Plan.  This should also seek to address design 
responses to increase floor levels on the basis of flood 
risk.

 That consideration is given to effective long-term open 

Page 9

Agenda Item 2.b)



- 28 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 7 
February 2017

space management and the mechanisms for 
successfully delivering of site contributions in lieu of on-
site provision.  This could be achieved through a 
revised Supplementary Planning Document on Open 
Space, as part of the emerging Local Plan, as well as 
through the Council’s commercialisation agenda.

 That planning conditions are reviewed to ensure that 
they are precise and enforceable.  For example, there 
is concern as to at what point developers should 
complete the finished surfacing of roads that serve 
development.

 That an up-to-date ‘Enforcement Plan’ is produced with 
a view to supporting effective and timely enforcement.

 That members are encouraged to undertake their own, 
or exceptionally, request Committee undertake site 
visits, where there is considered to be a significant 
impact, for example wind and solar farms.

b) That it be recommended to the Planning Committee that the 
Review of Implemented Planning Decisions tour continue on a 
biennial basis; and,

c) That the Performance Monitoring and Policy Development 
Panels work together in order to promote design, and that with 
the Policy Development Panel’s consent, this be undertaken 
as follows:

 That two members of the Performance Monitoring 
Panel join a Task Group already set up by the Policy 
Development Panel to review public open spaces.

 That Councillor Alcock and Councillor Newton be 
members of this joint Task Group.

 That alongside the issues already agreed by the 
Policy Development Panel for consideration by the 
Review of Public Open Spaces Task Group, 
recommendations made by the Performance 
Monitoring Panel following the review of implemented 
planning decisions also be addressed, particularly 
those relating to open space and the finishing off of 
pavements in new developments.

The recommendations were noted and agreed by Planning 
Committee and the minute stated that “Councillors expressed that 
it had been a worthwhile exercise, well-structured and that there 
had been a good variety of applications to consider”.

Page 10



- 29 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 7 
February 2017

AGREED:

That the report be noted. 

31. MINUTES 

AGREED:

a) The minutes of the Performance Monitoring Panel meeting 
held on 8 November 2016 were signed by the Chairman as a 
correct record.

b) The minutes of the Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and 
Policy Development Panel meeting held on 25 October 2016 
were signed by the Chairman as a correct record.

c) The minutes of the Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and 
Policy Development Panel meeting held on 22 November  
2016 were signed by the Chairman as a correct record. 

32. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS. 

There were no declarations of interest. 

33. QUESTIONS ASKED UNDER STANDING ORDER 6 

There were no questions asked under Standing Order 6. 

34. RESPONSE OF THE CABINET TO THE FINAL REPORT OF 
THE SWIMMING POOL AND LEISURE FACILITIES 
CONTRACT TASK GROUP 

The final report of the Swimming Pool and Leisure Facilities 
Contract Task Group was considered by the Cabinet on 8 
November 2016.

The Portfolio Holder for Communities and Facilities thanked the 
Task Group for their report and informed the Panel that the 
Cabinet had approved all of the Task Group’s recommendations.  
He had discussed the recommendations with Managers at the 
Swimming Pool.

In addition, the Executive Director – Place apologised that 
progress had taken longer than expected and informed the Panel 
that he had been in contact with the Managing Director of 1Life. 
The following action had been taken against the 
recommendations:

Page 11



- 30 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 7 
February 2017

a) Recommendation
That a full time cleaner is considered by 1Life as part of their 
annual budget allocations. It is evident that additional hours 
are required for the proactive cleaning of the swimming pool 
facility, in particular the changing room areas, in order to 
adhere to the requirements of the contract.

Action to date
 The Castle Complex had 1 X 30 hour cleaner and 1 X6 

hour cleaner.
 All staff had cleaning duties in their job description.
 Additional dedicated pool changing room cleaning resource 

was requested by the 1Life Contract Manager.  This was 
approved and interviews were scheduled for week 
commencing 6 February.

 Regional management had also approved an external 
contractor deep clean to assist with problem areas.

 New cleaning chemicals had also been sourced and would 
be available from March 17 once all staff had received 
training.

b) Recommendation
That contract management of the site improves with a formally 
recorded daily and weekly monitoring regime and that should 
standards fall short of the requirements within the contract, the 
contract warning system is to be followed through and robustly 
pursued by the contract manager.

Action to date
 A daily and weekly monitoring regime was in place on site.
 There was a daily and weekly cleaning schedule which 

must be completed by staff on site.  
 The 1Life Contract Manager had developed a more 

detailed list for internal inspections that duty managers 
were to complete.

 These were viewed at contract monitoring meetings.
 Despite these measures being in place, standards of 

cleanliness still fell short of customer expectations.
 As such, additional resource had been committed for 

additional weekly unannounced visits from SHDC officers. 
These were in a detailed breakdown, against the daily, 
weekly and monthly items in the contract.

 If standards fell short Improvement Notices or Default 
notices would be served.  Monitoring of these would be 
included in the Strategic Board meetings with 1Life 
Managing Director.

 Following the outstanding concerns, officers met with the 

Page 12



- 31 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 7 
February 2017

1Life Contract Manager, 1Life Operations Director and the 
new Regional Director in January and requested a full 
improvement plan.

 This has been received and further detail requested.
 This will be monitored and sanctions used if this is not met.

c) Recommendation
That staff within the facilities record and notify management of 
any repairs required on a daily basis and that these are dealt
with in a timely manner. In addition, all outstanding repairs and 
maintenance should be undertaken promptly to improve 
standards at the leisure facilities.

Action to date
 There is an inspection sheet for logging all maintenance 

issues or cleanliness issues.
 A new loose sheet log has also been created for main 

hirers or regular clubs at the facility to document any 
concerns.

 These will be reviewed at the monthly contract meetings 
against the contract.

d) Recommendation
That the blue overshoe policy is reviewed immediately and a 
new, more effective policy is put in place within three months.;

Action to date
 This has been reviewed and seriously considered.  A 

suitable alternative is not available at this time. Blue 
overshoes are industry standard.

 Consideration was also given to other physical measures, 
such as a turnstile to ensure that each person entering the 
changing room area puts on the overshoes but this has 
been discounted due to emergency access in and out.

 1Life Operations Director was looking into site specific 
alternatives and in the interim refreshed and prominent 
signage had been installed, all staff should be reminding 
customers and reminders have gone out in swim school 
letters.

e) Recommendation
That these recommendations are
allocated to an identified officer to ensure they are actioned 
and that an update is received by the Performance Monitoring 
Panel on actions against these at 7 February 2017 meeting.

Action to date
 The Communities Manager had responsibility for all of 

Page 13



- 32 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 7 
February 2017

these actions.

f) Recommendation
That the Performance Monitoring Panel is involved in the 
consultation stage of any future option appraisals in respect to 
Leisure Facilities provision in South Holland as detailed

Action to date
 This work had not yet commenced.

In discussing the action taken, the Panel discussed the 
importance of the Council using the contract sanctions that were 
available to it and also of managing the public relations aspects of 
concerns.

The Panel asked for an update at the meeting in May 2017.

AGREED:

a) That the Cabinet’s response to the recommendations of the 
Task Group be noted;

b) That progress against those recommendations be noted; and

c) That a progress report be made to the May meeting of the 
Panel. 

EH, CM 

35. ITEMS REFERRED FROM THE POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL. 

There were no items referred from the Policy Development Panel. 

36. KEY DECISION PLAN 

The Panel considered the current Key Decision Plan and stressed 
the importance of the document being full and accurate.

The Corporate Improvement and Performance Manager informed 
the Panel that under transparency regulations the Council was 
required to publish a contracts register.  If Councillors wished to 
have input into this then it could be reported to the Panel every 6 
months.

AGREED:

That the Corporate Improvement and Performance Manager 
reports the Contracts Register to the Panel on a six-monthly 
basis. 

CM, GP 

Page 14



- 33 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 7 
February 2017

37. PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT - QUARTER 3 2016-17 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Strategy and Governance which provided an update on Council 
performance for the period 1 October 2016 to 31 December 2016. 
Areas where performance had improved since the previous period 
(Q2 2016/2017) were brought to members’ attention, as were 
areas of concern where performance was below expected levels 
or was considered to be worsening.

The Corporate Improvement and Performance Manager informed 
members that there had been technical issues with the production 
of the report and information relating to the numerators and 
denominators would be circulated shortly.

Quarter 3 saw increased levels of performance against the 
majority of indicators compared to the performance seen in 
Quarter 2. Performance was rated as good with 82% of indicators 
being green which indicated good performance. There was 1 
amber indicator and 2 red indicators which in total made up the 
remaining 18% of indicators.

Areas of concern highlighted within the report included the 
following:

Housing Benefit LA Error Rate

The Housing Benefit LA error rate currently stood at 0.45% 
against a target of 0.48% which was equal to £67,000.  
Councillors appreciated that this was not as bad as it sounded as 
it was under the threshold to incur a penalty. Weekly updates 
were received from CPBS.

The Panel sought clarification regarding the long-standing 
housing benefit cases.  This was raised with CPBS on a regular 
basis and a position statement would be circulated to Councillors 
shortly.

AGREED:

a) That the report of the Executive Director Strategy and 
Governance be noted; and

b) That the following documents be circulated to the Panel:

 Numerator and denominator information
 Position statement on Housing Benefit 

CM, GP 

Page 15



- 34 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 7 
February 2017

38. ENFORCEMENT 

The Panel received a presentation from the Environmental 
Services Manager outlining how South Holland District Council 
proposed to provide a pro-active coordinated Authority-wide 
approach to enforcement in the future. 

Councillors agreed that this was an important issue for residents 
and the following points were made:

 There was an important role for Communications so that 
the press and public were aware of the enforcement work 
being undertaken by the Council.

 There was a perception that enforcement took too long 
with too much onus placed on the complainant to ‘keep a 
log’

 Enforcement powers needed to exercised in respect of dog 
fouling with complainants able to give information 
anonymously.

 There needed to be a direct way for Councillors to report 
issues

 It was important that feedback detailing action taken was 
given to anyone who reported an issue 

The Executive Director – Place informed Council that a service 
review was currently being undertaken which took in lots of teams 
that currently undertook enforcement.  A report would be made to 
Council in March 2017.

AGREED:

That the presentation be noted. 

39. SIR HALLEY STEWART PLAYING FIELD TASK GROUP 

A verbal update on progress with the recommendations of the 
Task Group was given by the Executive Director – Place.

It was noted that of the 15 recommendations, 12 had been 
satisfied and 3 were still in progress.

Recommendation
 The Council advises the Charity Commission that the Task 

Group has considered the Commission’s Guidance on public 
benefit and is satisfied that the Council is compliant

o Complete

Page 16



- 35 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 7 
February 2017

Recommendation
 Provides a copy of this report to the Commission in order to 

outline the actions proposed by the Council
o Complete

Recommendation
 Invites the Performance Monitoring Panel to appoint a Task 

Group on an annual (single meeting) basis for the specific 
purpose of ensuring that the Council remains compliant with 
Charity Commission Guidance

o Complete

Recommendation
 The site remains secured when not in use under a formal 

booking and that bookings only be granted where the 
proposed use has some connection to sport

o Complete

Recommendation
 The Council advertises the availability of the site more widely 

and begins by erecting appropriate signage at the site 
entrance in a similar format to the sign at Spalding Cemetery

o Complete.  Signage had been installed and information 
had been updated on the refreshed website

Recommendation
 Organise an open day at which local sports clubs are invited to 

have a stall – possibly linked to the next People’s Parade.
o An event was held on 17 August 2015 to promote a 

physical activity and wellbeing programme across the 
district and local sports club invited.

o Based on Member feedback, an additional Showcase 
event had been scheduled for 2 April 2017 for sports 
clubs which would help promote their Easter holiday 
and Summer activities

Recommendation
 That management and promotion/ branding of the Sir Halley 

Stewart Field be improved, and that users / interested parties 
be consulted on any proposed changes to promotion / 
branding

o Complete.  The revised booking form, guidance and 
information was available on the SHDC website.

Recommendation
 That a new charging mechanism be introduced in order to 

ensure that hirers who use services such as gas, electricity 
(including floodlights), water and sewage are required to meet 

Page 17



- 36 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 7 
February 2017

the full cost of their use of the playing field and that officers 
consider the best mechanism for achieving this.

o Fees and charges were reviewed for 16-17 and there 
were appropriate rates for matches, pitch and dressing 
room, local league rates, juniors, training and field 
training.  There were additional rates for floodlights per 
hour.

o Additional measures had been put in place to control 
and measure utility consumption.  Utility costs across 
facilities continues to be reviewed and new providers 
and rates for electricity were agreed in Q3 of this 
financial year for the Sir Halley Stewart Playing Field.  
This would enable further work on cost recovery to be 
undertaken.

o Hirers for events and activities would be bespoke based 
on their requirements.

Recommendation
 That, as part of its Building maintenance Programme and/or 

Capital Renewal Programme, the Council considers repairing / 
improving the Council-owned buildings/structures at the site 
(including the entrance gates) together with the heating and 
lighting systems in the changing rooms.  Such repairs/ 
improvements to ensure that minimum standards are 
maintained as may be required by law (such as health and 
safety, disability discrimination etc.)

o An on-site audit took place in July 2015 and all remedial 
action had been completed.

o A mechanism was in place to report and assess any 
ongoing maintenance issues.

o The work to the gates had been completed.

Recommendation
 Officers introduce a reporting mechanism to ensure that any 

health and safety issues that are identified are reported to the 
Portfolio Holder and that the costs and charges are monitored 
regularly through the Spalding Town Forum.

o An update would be given at the Spalding Town Forum, 
date to be confirmed.

Recommendation
 That officers produce a user-friendly guide to booking the 

playing field and that officers review the booking form to 
ensure that it is easy to follow.  The Guide to be circulated to 
all local schools and sporting clubs.

o Complete – for booking all open spaces for activities, 
events or sports

Page 18



- 37 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 7 
February 2017

Recommendation
 That a policy on bookings be drafted by the Leisure and 

Tourism Facilities Manager
o The revised sports specific booking form was agreed 

and implemented.  A Seasonal SUFC policy was sent 
to the league on an annual basis.

Recommendation
 That officers investigate the possibility of the booking form and 

policy being made available through Customer Services and, 
assuming that this is feasible, staff be trained to assist 
customers who wish to make such bookings

o All the information was available on the website for 
customers and officers.  This action had developed 
further with plans in place to address through the 
Council’s digital work programme and book and pay.  

Recommendation
 That all applications for bookings be assessed in accordance 

with new policy and that in any case where the officer with 
delegated authority wishes to make a decision which falls 
outside of the policy, the officer be required to consult with the 
relevant Portfolio Holder or Junior Portfolio Holder

o Bookings were only approved within accordance with 
the agreed Hire Agreement Form or Events Booking 
Process. 

o If any requests outside of these parameters came in, 
officers would consult with the Portfolio Holder

Recommendation
 Where any hirer is required to insure against any particular 

risks, the hirer be required to provide copies of such insurance 
certificates that the Council may require (such as a fire 
certificate)

o Complete

Recommendation
 That SUFC be approached with a view to making it clear that 

any and all works to meet league requirements must be 
undertaken at their own cost and shall only take place with 
SHDC’s consent.

o Complete

Recommendation
 Existing and future works must not interfere with any future 

use by other hirers ( in due course this may require barriers, 
for example, to be made removable)

o Ongoing

Page 19



- 38 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 7 
February 2017

Recommendation
 Given that there are clearly insufficient playing areas to 

accommodate the number of youngsters now keen to join 
junior football teams and leagues, officers investigate the 
possibility of establishing two junior pitches alongside the main 
pitch, such investigations to include an examination of the 
likely costs (such as the cost of drainage and lighting)

o Initial investigations had shown that the available space 
was not sufficient for junior pitches on this site.  
However, this continued to be reviewed across all our 
playing field sites.

o In October 2016 analysis of Playing Field usage was 
undertaken across Sir Halley Stewart Playing Field, 
Castle Field and Monkshouse Field to help inform 
future facility development.  This included April 13- 
March 16 figures and would be updated in April 2017 to 
include 16-17 figures for comparison. 

o This would also link with work in the Local Plan and 
Playing Field Strategy.

o There had not been any major investment at the Sir 
Halley Stewart Field at this point as the Council were 
looking at its facilities as a whole and in light of potential 
funding

Recommendation
 That any works identified are incorporated into a work 

programme and allocated to an identified officer
o Complete

Councillors discussed issues with the football club; seeking 
reassurance that the rent charged cover all of the costs and also 
that there was an appropriate level of insurance.  The Executive 
Director – Place agreed to look into this. 

AGREED:

a) That the progress report be noted; and 

b) That the Executive Director – Place report back to Councillors 
on issues raised. 

EH, RW 

40. PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL WORK PROGRAMME 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Manager 
Governance, which set out the Work Programme of the 
Performance Monitoring Panel. The Work Programme consisted 
of two separate sections, the first setting out the dates of the 

Page 20



- 39 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 7 
February 2017

future Panel meetings along with proposed items for 
consideration, and the second setting out the Task Groups that 
had been identified by the Panel.

AGREED:

That both sections of the Panel’s Work Programme, as set out in 
the report of the Executive Manager Governance, be noted. 

41. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
URGENT 

There were no urgent items. 

42. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

It was not necessary to give consideration to excluding the press 
and public. 

43. EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE JOINT MEETING OF THE 
PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL AND POLICY 
DEVELOPMENT PANEL HELD ON 25 OCTOBER 2016 

These minutes were agreed earlier in the meeting without the 
need to exclude the press and public. 

(The meeting ended at 8.25 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



 
1 

 

 

    

KEY DECISION PLAN 
 

Issued – 27 April 2017 

  

 
Representations in respect of all the matters shown should be sent in writing, at least one week before the date or period the decision 

is likely to be made, to:  
 Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE 
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 

 
The Key Decision Plan shows all Key decisions that the Council is likely to make over the next twelve months 

 
The Key Decision Plan is updated on a rolling basis and shows the decisions that will be considered and the date when the decision is 
expected to be made. In accordance with the Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed within this document, unless otherwise 
stated, come into force and may then be implemented on the expiry of a 5 working day call-in period  from the date of publication of 
any decision.   
 
Key decisions are: “A decision which, in relation to an executive function, has a significant effect on communities in two or more 
Wards of the Council and / or is likely to result in the Authority incurring expenditure, generating income or making savings in any 
single financial year above the threshold of £75,000 in respect of revenue expenditure and £180,000 in respect of capital expenditure.” 
 
Significant decisions are: 1. A decision made in connection with setting the Council Tax; 2. A decision to approve any matter relating 
to a Policy or Strategic Plan; 3. Any non-Executive decision which significantly affects the community in two or more wards or electoral 
divisions. Some of the decisions will be recommendations to full Council, particularly if they impact on the Budget and the Policy 
Framework (comprising of statutory plans and strategies) 
 

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 
WILL MAKE DECISION 

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 7.



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 
WILL MAKE DECISION 

 
2 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health 
 
 
Lincolnshire 
Wellbeing 
Service 
 

Delivery of the Wellbeing Service 
 

Meetings and Discussions 
 
 
 

 Portfolio Holder for 
Housing and Health 
Between  27 Apr 2017 and 
31 May 2017 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health 
 
 
CSU Building 
Materials 
Contract 
 

To award a contract. 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Housing.  
 
Meetings and discussions.  
 

 Housing Landlord 
Manager Between  27 Apr 
2017 and 31 May 2017 
 

P
age 24



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 
WILL MAKE DECISION 

 
3 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health 
 
 
 
 
New sewerage 
maintenance 
contract for 
council housing 
stock 
 

To award new sewerage maintenance 
contract for the housing stock. 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Housing Landlord, 
Housing Manager. 
 
Informal meetings and 
discussions. 
 

 Housing Landlord 
Manager 
 
Portfolio Holder for 
Housing and Health 
Between  27 Apr 2017 and 
31 May 2017 
 
 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health 
 
 
 
 
Bull and Monkie 
 

To update Members and consider 
further actions. 
 

Executive Director 
Commercialisation and 
S151 Officer. 
Executive Director 
Strategy and Governance. 
Executive Director Place. 
 
 
 

 Cabinet 9 May 2017 
 

P
age 25



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 
WILL MAKE DECISION 

 
4 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for Finance 
 
 
Welland Homes 
Limited - 
Development 
Business Plan 
 

To outline the findings of the review of 
the next layer of the Welland Homes 
Business Plan. 
 

Meetings and discussions 
 
 
 

Welland Homes 
Limited - 
Development 
Business Plan 

South Holland District 
Council 26 Jul 2017 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Place 
 
 
Update on the 
Garden Waste 
Collection Pilot 
 

To update Councillors on the Garden 
Waste Pilot, and set out options for the 
future.  
 

Portfolio Holder for Place 
and Executive Director 
Place 
 
Meetings and 
correspondence 
 

Update on the 
Garden Waste 
Collection Pilot 

Cabinet 12 Sep 2017 
 

 
 
 

*Cabinet Membership 

The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader) 
Councillor C N Worth (Deputy Leader of the Council) 
Councillor M G Chandler (Deputy Leader) 
Councillor A Casson (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor P E Coupland (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor R Gambba-Jones (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor C J Lawton (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor S Slade (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor G J Taylor (Portfolio Holder) 

P
age 26



 
5 

 

 
 

 
If you have any comments or queries regarding any of the entries in the Key Decision Plan please contact: 

 
Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE 
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 

 

P
age 27



P
age 28



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Member for Strategy, Governance and Transformation

To: Performance Monitoring Panel, 16th May 2017 and Cabinet, 18th July 2017

Author: Greg Pearson – Corporate Improvement and Performance Manager

Subject: Performance Overview Report – Quarter 4 2016/17

Purpose: To provide an update on Council performance for the period 1 January 2017 
to 31 March 2017

Recommendation(s): 

1)  To note the content of the report

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.0.1 The Quarter 4 2016/17 Performance Report (Appendix A) aims to provide Members and 
residents with information about how the Council is delivering its services and how it is 
progressing against its Corporate Priorities.  The covering report highlights in further detail 
some of the indicators within the performance report. Elected Members will note that the 
structure of Appendix A has been amended to provide better clarity and transparency on 
the Council’s performance.

1.0.2 Areas where performance has improved are brought to Members’ attention, as are areas of 
concern where performance is below expected levels or is considered to be worsening.

1.1 Key Performance Indicators

1.1.1 Quarter 4 saw a decrease in levels of performance in comparison to the performance seen 
in quarter 3. Performance is rated as moderate with 11 indicators being green (46%) which 
indicates good performance. There is 1 amber indicator and 10 red indicators (42%) 
highlighting lower than expected performance. There are 2 indicators which are classified 
as data only; this means that they are monitored without requiring a target and 2 which are 
unknown as data has not been provided.  

Page 29

Agenda Item 9.



1.2 Areas of Success

Customer Complaint Handling
Following a change internally in the process for logging complaints, we faced a challenge in 
relation to the handling of complaints. However, this has been addressed and the process 
looks to be working smoothly now. We closed 54 complaints in the last quarter of 2016/17 
and 8 of these were upheld for stage 1 complaints. There were 3 stage 2 complaints closed 
and none of these were upheld. 

Commercial Property Occupancy
The occupancy of our commercial properties continued at 100%, the 50 units we own have 
been let for the full financial year ensuring an income for the Council. 

Planning Applications
The performance of the planning team continued to maintain above target with 96% of 
applications determined within the agreed time for Q4, which refers to 194 of 202 
applications. Performance was green throughout the financial year.

Revenues and Benefits
The 2016/17 financial year saw the revenues and benefits team turnaround poor 
performance earlier in the year to finish the year with green indicators at the end of Q4. The 
LA error rate, which would have likely resulted in a fine if above 0.48%, finished the year at 
0.42%. There are still some external audits to be conducted and confirmation that there will 
be no fine cannot be given until this has been done, however, the indicator shows the 
service sitting at a much better position than in August when it peaked 0.89%. 

Both the business rates and council tax collections also finished the year slightly above the 
target which means additional collection than previously forecasted.

1.3 Areas of Concern

The following areas are either not achieving their target or are experiencing a significant 
decline in performance:

Housing Void Figures
Following previous improvement, the housing void figures have seen an increase in the last 
quarter. Overall, the time the keys were with contractors remained within target, however 
there was an issue with some of the general needs properties which took the contractor 
time over 25 days in the quarter for the general needs indicator. Letting times for both 
sheltered and general needs were both over their targets for the quarter leading to key to 
key targets being missed for both tenures and the overall time to re-let properties for all 
tenures, key to key, finished Q4 at 32 days.

The service has confirmed that there were some properties that took longer to complete 
their works due to external factors and that there have also been properties that have 
required multiple offers to residents. All of which caused a delay in the time for a few 
properties which increased the average time for voids across the board.

There has still be a great improvement overall, the Q4 figure of 32 days is an improvement 
on the 45 days recorded for the same period last year. The service is also undergoing 
review as part of the Place Service review and there has been additional work done to 
review the processes for voids. With all this in mind, it is hoped that the improvements will 
continue and a reduction in void times will be seen.

Average Wait Time In Seconds

Page 30



Quarter 4 saw the average wait time for calls to the revenues, benefits and customer 
contact centre increase to 107 seconds. There are a number of factors which have caused 
this, including the increase in the number of calls received in March due to Council Tax 
enquiries and the increasing of skills for call takers which has meant calls are longer and 
providing a quality service to customers. Another impact has been the introduction of floor 
walkers, which reduced the number of people answering the phones but, has meant a drop 
in around 1300 visits to the cash office, the most expensive contact channel, thanks to 
additional support provided by the floor walkers to help customers make payments via other 
methods.

The service has advised that they will be looking to ensure forecasting is better 
implemented for busy periods going forward and an additional post has now been created 
for the floor walkers which means the contact centre should be back to capacity.

Environmental Services
The amount of waste sent to ‘energy from waste’ per household rose slightly at the end of 
the year, with Q4 reported as 48.2kg per household. This replicates the increases seen in 
other Districts and is reported to County as the owners of the waste following our collection 
of it. Missed waste collections rose in Q4 to 51.2 per 100,000 collections, this is slightly 
higher than the reported 40.3 for the same period last year. However, this still represents a 
very good rate of collection as the actual number of missed bins was 521 for the quarter out 
of 1,018,500 collections made during the 3 months (99.95% of bins collected). 

Sickness
The number of days lost to sickness rose to its highest for the year and higher than 
reported for Q4 of the previous year, it stood at 3.68 days per full time equivalent at the end 
of this quarter. There are 8 people on long term sick, which is a reduction from 14 the 
previous month. Sickness is being managed, however, some of those on long term sick are 
for serious illness and support is being provided. The sickness figures will continue to be 
monitored.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Members are asked to consider the information contained within the report.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 Report for consideration, in order to fulfil the Performance Monitoring Panel’s remit.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The Council’s performance is properly scrutinised.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no carbon footprint or environmental 
implications.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 The report is made within the terms of reference of the Performance Monitoring Panel.

5.3 Contracts

Page 31



5.3.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct contract implications.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 The report presents progress monitoring of performance of the corporate priorities.

5.5 Crime and Disorder

5.5.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct crime and disorder implications.

5.6 Equality and Diversity/Human Rights

5.6.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct equality or human rights implications.

5.7 Financial

5.7.1 The report contains information on Council’s performance which does convey some 
information relating to financial matters.

5.8 Health and Wellbeing

5.8.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no health or wellbeing implications.

5.9 Reputation

5.9.1 Performance issues can cause some reputational consequence.  It is the purpose of this 
report to highlight performance issues at an early stage.

5.10 Risk Management

5.10.1 Performance issues may be subject to risk management measures to protect Council 
interests.

5.11      Safeguarding

5.11.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct safeguarding implications as a result 
of this report

5.12 Staffing

5.12.1 The report contains information relating to staffing issues.

5.13   Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales

5.13.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct implications arising from this report.

5.14 Transformation Programme

5.14.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct implications arising from this report.

5.15 Other

5.15.1 It is the opinion of the author that there are no direct implications arising from this report

Page 32



6.0     WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

6.1     No Wards or Communities are affected 

7.0     ACRONYMS 

7.1     EMT – Executive Management Team

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Greg Pearson – Corporate Improvement & Performance 

Manager
Telephone Number: 01362 656866
Email: greg.pearson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk 

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting
Name and Post: Greg Pearson – Corporate Improvement & Performance 

Manager

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Quarter 4 Performance Report

Page 33

file:///C:/Users/CharlottePaine/Democratic%20Services/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
mailto:greg.pearson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Appendix A

2016/17 Q4 SHDC PMP Report

Generated on: 13 April 2017

         

         

Indicator % of Customer Complaints Upheld - Stage 1 Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

# of complaints upheld Total # of complaints 
closed

Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A 23.08%

Current Performance

# of complaints upheld Total # of complaints 
closed

Value

Q4 2016/17 8 54 14.81%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Complaints upheld as a % 
of all stage 1 complaints 
closed in period 
This is calculated using the 
number of complaints 
upheld divided by the total 
number of complaints 
closed in the period 

Indicator Status
Green

 

25%

 

A lower % is better as we look to reduce the 
number of complaints upheld for an SHDC 
error 

19% of complaints were upheld at stage one this is significantly 
below the threshold of 25% so it represents good performance by the 
council. The council is constantly using the information it gathers 
through the complaints process to gather lessons learnt data and 
make service improvements as a result of that. The previous year’s 
figures are not available for comparison as this was before the 
council migrated to the Covalent system for managing its complaints.

P
age 35



2

Indicator % of Customer Complaints Upheld - Stage 2 Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

# of complaints upheld Total # of complaints 
closed

Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A 12.5%

Current Performance

# of complaints upheld Total # of complaints 
closed

Value

Q4 2016/17 0 3 0%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Complaints upheld as a % 
of all stage 2 complaints 
received in period 

Indicator Status
Green

 

25%

 

A lower % is better as we look to reduce the 
number of complaints upheld for an SHDC 
error 

0% of complaints were upheld at stage two, it represents good 
performance by the council. The council is constantly using the 
information it gathers through the complaints process to gather 
lessons learnt data and make service improvements as a result of 
that. The previous year’s figures are not available for comparison as 
this was before the council migrated to the Covalent system for 
managing its complaints.

P
age 36



3

Indicator % of Calls Abandoned Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Calls Abandoned Calls Received Value

Q4 2015/16 804.333 9,541.333 8.43%

Current Performance

Calls Abandoned Calls Received Value

Q4 2016/17 827.333 10,075.333 8.21%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

% of calls that are 
abandoned (call 
terminated prior to 
answering), excluding 
those abandoned within 5 
seconds. 
This is a combined 
measure across Customer 
Contact, Revenues and 
Benefits calls 
Indicator Status
Green

 

10% 
 

A lower % is better as we look to answer more 
calls

Performance is good for the quarter, keeping within the 10% target in 
spite an increase in calls.

Indicator Average Wait Time in Seconds Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Total time waiting Total number calls 
received

Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A 92

Current Performance

Total time waiting Total number calls 
received

Value

Q4 2016/17 N/A N/A 107.22

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Average time to answer 
phone calls in seconds 
This is measured across 
customer services, 
revenues and benefits 
calls. 

Indicator Status
Red

 

86
 

A lower number is better as it indicates less 
time waiting for a call to be answered

Average wait time has increased, largely due to the up skilling of 
staff who are now dealing with more complex calls which are taking 
longer to complete. The call system is unable to provide total time 

P
age 37



4

waiting and total number or calls received.

Indicator % of household waste recycled or composted Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A 30.63%

Current Performance

Waste Recycled and 
composted

Total Waste Collected Value

Q4 2016/17 2486.06 7990.6 31.03%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

% of household waste 
which has been recycled 
and composted (includes 
garden waste) against all 
the household waste 
collected 

Indicator Status
Green

 

30%

 

A higher % is better as we look to recycle or 
compost more waste

Recycling and composting percentages have increased and are above 
the current 30% target. The previous year’s figures are not available 
for comparison as this was before the council migrated to the 
Covalent system.

Indicator Missed Waste Collection Rate Trend Chart
Number of missed 
collections per 100,000 
people 

 

Same Period Last Year

Number of missed 
collections

Per 100,000 collection 
figure

Value

Q4 2015/16 410 10.185 40.3

Current Performance

Number of missed 
collections

Per 100,000 collection 
figure

Value

Q4 2016/17 521 10.185 51.2

P
age 38



5

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Indicator Status
Red

 

33.0

 

A lower number is better as we look to ensure 
fewer waste collections are missed

Some minor route changes undertaken will have had an effect on 
missed collections but the figures must be taken in context. 

341,900 collections are scheduled to be carried out in a calendar 
month and 42.4 misses / 100,000 collections means 99.96% of these 
collections were carried out successfully.      

       

         

Indicator Waste sent to 'Energy from Waste' per Household (kg) Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A 45.0

Current Performance

Residual Waste 
Collected in KGs

Number of Households 
Waste Collected From

Value

Q4 2016/17 5703320 118350 48.2

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Number of Kg’s of residual 
waste collected per 
household sent to Energy 
from Waste 
Calculated by 'residual 
waste collected' x 1000 
then divided by number of 
households waste has 
been collected from 

Indicator Status
Amber

 

45.0

 

A lower number is better as we look to reduce 
the amount of waste sent for incineration 

There has been an increase in the amount of waste sent to ‘Energy 
from Waste’ which a trend being seen across many Districts. The 
previous year’s figures are not available for comparison as this was 
before the council migrated to the Covalent system.

         

P
age 39



6

Indicator Commercial Property Occupancy Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Number of units let Total number of units Value

Q4 2015/16 49.667 50 99.33%

Current Performance

Number of units let Total number of units Value

Q4 2016/17 50 50 100%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Occupancy levels of the 
council's industrial units 

Indicator Status
Green

 

90%
 

A higher number is better as we look to rent 
out as many council owned industrial units as 
possible

All industrial units are currently occupied.

Indicator Staff turnover % Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Number of leavers in 
period

Total number of staff 
in period

Value

Q4 2015/16 6 249 2.41%

Current Performance

Number of leavers in 
period

Total number of staff 
in period

Value

Q4 2016/17 8 251 3.19%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

% of total leavers against 
total number of staff 
employed in period 
(includes involuntary 
leavers) 
 
Annual target is 10% which 
has been benchmarked 

Indicator Status
Red

 
2.5%

 
Lower is better as we look to retain staff Staff turnover includes 1 redundancy following a service review in 

democratic services.

P
age 40



7

Indicator # of Working Days Lost to Sickness per FTE Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A 2.95

Current Performance

Number of working 
days lost

Staff Full time 
Equivalent

Value

Q4 2016/17 774.87 231.22 3.35

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Number of working days 
lost per Full Time 
Equivalent. 
This is calculated by taking 
the number of days lost to 
sickness and dividing it by 
the number of full time 
equivalent staff in the 
period 

Indicator Status
Green

 

0.66

 

Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
amount of working time lost to sickness 

As at today (23/03/17) there are 8 long term sickness cases being 
managed.  This has reduced from 14 at the beginning of the month.  
5 out of the 8 are for reasons of Cancer and Back problems. The 
previous year’s figures are not available for comparison as this was 
before the council migrated to the Covalent system.

Indicator Housing re-let (void) time (total ave. key to key) All Tenures Trend Chart
Total time in days from 
keys in to keys out - 
including major works for 
all tenures (General Needs 
and Sheltered Housing) 
This is calculated by total 
number of days properties 
remain vacant divided by 
the number or properties 

 

Same Period Last Year

Total # days void Total # properties void Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A 45 days

Current Performance

Total # days void Total # properties void Value

Q4 2016/17 526.667 16.333 32 days

P
age 41



8

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  vacant in the period 
Indicator Status
Green

 

28 days

 

Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
number of days vacant and therefore not 
receiving rent payments 

13 Hereward Road - 112 Days due to being sent back to CSU due to 
standard of work
13 Beech Avenue - 69 Days - Tenant Deceased held furniture for a 
month in property waiting to clear
32 Nene Court - 95 Days - 1 Refusal, No waiting list
The previous year’s figures are not available for comparison as this 
was before the council migrated to the Covalent system.

Indicator Housing re-let (void) time (Keys In to Keys Back from Contractor) - All Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Total # days void 
(contract)

Total # properties void Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A 34 days

Current Performance

Total # days void 
(contract)

Total # properties void Value

Q4 2016/17 192 8.167 24 days

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Total time in days from 
keys in from tenant to 
works completed by the 
contractor and the 
property is ready to be let 
This is calculated by total 
number of days all 
properties remained 
vacant whilst the keys are 
with the contractors to 
complete works divided by 
the total number of 
properties vacant in the 
period 
Indicator Status
Green

 

25 days

 

Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
amount of time a property is vacant whilst 
works are completed 

There has been a reduction in the number of days void properties are 
with the construction unit.
The previous year’s figures are not available for comparison as this 
was before the council migrated to the Covalent system.

         

         

P
age 42



9

Indicator Housing re-let (void) time (Contractor) - General Needs Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Total # days void 
(contract)

Total # properties void Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A 37 days

Current Performance

Total # days void 
(contract)

Total # properties void Value

Q4 2016/17 281.667 10 28 days

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Total time in days from 
keys in from tenant to 
works completed by the 
contractor and the 
property is ready to be let. 
This is only for 'general 
needs' properties 
This is calculated by total 
number of days general 
needs properties remained 
vacant whilst the keys are 
with the contractors to 
complete works divided by 
the total number of 
general needs properties 
vacant in the period 
Indicator Status
Red

 

25 days

 

Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
amount of time a property is vacant whilst 
works are completed 

13 Hereward Road - 91 Days - Sent Back to CSU by Michelle and Ken

 The previous year’s figures are not available for comparison as this 
was before the council migrated to the Covalent system.

 

     

 

   

         

P
age 43



10

Indicator Housing re-let (void) time (Contractor) - Sheltered Housing Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Total # days void 
(contract)

Total # properties void Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A 30 days

Current Performance

Total # days void 
(contract)

Total # properties void Value

Q4 2016/17 102.333 6.333 16 days

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Total time in days from 
keys in from tenant to 
works completed by the 
contractor and the 
property is ready to be let. 
This is only for 'sheltered' 
properties 
This is calculated by total 
number of days sheltered 
properties remained 
vacant whilst the keys are 
with the contractors to 
complete works divided by 
the total number of 
sheltered properties vacant 
in the period 
Indicator Status
Green

 

25 days

 

Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
amount of time a property is vacant whilst 
works are completed 

The 16 days represents a good turnaround time for the sheltered 
properties. The previous year’s figures are not available for 
comparison as this was before the council migrated to the Covalent 
system.

         

Indicator Housing re-let (void) time (Letting) - General Needs Trend Chart
Total time in days for 
properties to be let after 
the works were completed 
by the contractor. This is 
only for 'general needs' 
properties 
This is calculated by total 
number of days general 

 

Same Period Last Year

Total # days void 
(letting)

Total # properties void Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A 6 days

Current Performance

Total # days void 
(letting)

Total # properties void Value

P
age 44



11

Q4 2016/17 50.667 10 5 days

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

needs properties remained 
vacant whilst the property 
is waiting to be let after 
the contractors completed 
works divided by the total 
number of general needs 
properties vacant in the 
period 
Indicator Status
Red

 

3 days

 

Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
amount of time a property is vacant for letting 
post works completion 

The number of days taken to let the properties is still above target 
and is due to properties having a number of refusals. The previous 
year’s figures are not available for comparison as this was before the 
council migrated to the Covalent system.

         

         

Indicator Housing re-let (void) time (Letting) - Sheltered Housing Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Total # days void 
(letting)

Total # properties void Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A 18 days

Current Performance

Total # days void 
(letting)

Total # properties void Value

Q4 2016/17 114 6.333 18 days

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Total time in days for 
properties to be let after 
the works were completed 
by the contractor. This is 
only for 'sheltered' 
properties 
This is calculated by total 
number of days sheltered 
properties remained 
vacant whilst the property 
is waiting to be let after 
the contractors completed 
works divided by the total 
number of sheltered 
properties vacant in the 
period 
Indicator Status
Red

 

3 days

 

Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
amount of time a property is vacant for letting 
post works completion 

32 Nene Court - 78 Days - 1 Refusal - No waiting list
The previous year’s figures are not available for comparison as this 
was before the council migrated to the Covalent system.

P
age 45



12

Indicator Housing re-let (void) time (Key to Key) - General Needs Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Total # days void (ktok) Total # properties void Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A 43 days

Current Performance

Total # days void (ktok) Total # properties void Value

Q4 2016/17 317.667 10 32 days

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Total time in days from 
keys in from tenant to keys 
out to the new tenant. This 
is only for 'general needs' 
properties 
This is calculated by total 
number of days general 
needs properties remained 
vacant divided by the total 
number of general needs 
properties vacant in the 
period 
Indicator Status
Red

 

28 days

 

Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
number of days vacant and therefore not 
receiving rent payments 

The combination of longer days with the contractors and letting delay 
have caused an overall increase in the key to key times. The previous 
year’s figures are not available for comparison as this was before the 
council migrated to the Covalent system.

Indicator Housing re-let (void) time (Key to Key) - Sheltered Housing Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Total # days void (ktok) Total # of properties 
void

Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A 48 days

Current Performance

Total # days void (ktok) Total # of properties 
void

Value

Q4 2016/17 209 6.333 33 days

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Total time in days from 
keys in from tenant to keys 
out to the new tenant. This 
is only for 'general needs' 
properties 
This is calculated by total 
number of days general 
needs properties remained 
vacant divided by the total 
number of general needs 
properties vacant in the 
period 
Indicator Status
Red

 
28 days

 
Lower is better as we look to reduce the 
number of days vacant and therefore not 

The combination of longer days with the contractors and letting delay 
have caused an overall increase in the key to key times. The previous 

P
age 46



13

receiving rent payments year’s figures are not available for comparison as this was before the 
council migrated to the Covalent system.

Indicator Cases Prevented from Homelessness per 1,000 households Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A 1.5

Current Performance

Cases Prevented Per 1,000 Value

Q4 2016/17 135 38.693 3.5

 
Current Target

N/A  
What does good look like?

 
Latest Note

 

P1E Return - Prevention 
and Relieving of 
Homelessness 
Number of potentially 
homeless cases diverted 
from homelessness per 
1,000 households 

 

 

 

This is not a targeted measure. The number 
does not reflect % of cases prevented from 
homelessness and therefore will fluctuate 
dependent upon demand to the service. 

Work continues to support residents in need.
The previous year’s figures are not available for comparison as this 
was before the council migrated to the Covalent system.

Indicator % of all planning applications determined within time Trend Chart
Number of planning 
applications determined 
within their statutory times 
divided by total number of 
applications received. 
Includes all application 
types (majors, minors, 
others) 

 

Same Period Last Year

# plan apps determined 
in time

# planning applications 
received

Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A 94.4%

Current Performance

# plan apps determined 
in time

# planning applications 
received

Value

P
age 47



14

Q4 2016/17 194 202 96.04%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Indicator Status
Green

 

70%

 

Higher is better as we look to determine as 
many as possible within their timescales 

Decisions were determined within the statutory period or agreed 
extension of time. The previous year’s figures are not available for 
comparison as this was before the council migrated to the Covalent 
system.

         

         

Indicator Housing Benefit LA Error Rate Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Error expenditure Total housing benefit 
expend

Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A 0.38%

Current Performance

Error expenditure Total housing benefit 
expend

Value

Q4 2016/17 £74,491.55 £17,940,198.46 0.42%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Local Authority error in 
Housing Benefit 
overpayment 
Amount of benefits 
overpaid divided by 
benefits paid (% of overall 
expenditure) 

Indicator Status
Green

 

0.48%

 

Lower is better as we look to minimise the 
amount of money paid in error and reduce the 
risk of financial penalty (which occurs above 
0.48%) 

The reduction in error rate % has reduced the likelihood of financial 
penalty. The previous year’s figures are not available for comparison 
as this was before the council migrated to the Covalent system.

P
age 48



15

Indicator Business Rate In Year Collection Rate Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

In year collection 
amount

Total collectable debit Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A 98.64%

Current Performance

In year collection 
amount

Total collectable debit Value

Q4 2016/17 £26,831,278.30 £27,188,532.08 98.19%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Amount of Business Rates 
collected in the year 
against the total 
collectable debit 

Indicator Status
Green

 

97%
 

Higher is better as we look to collect as much 
of the business rates debit as possible 

Performance has exceeded the end of year target. The previous 
year’s figures are not available for comparison as this was before the 
council migrated to the Covalent system.

Indicator Council Tax In Year Collection Rate Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

In year collection 
amount

Total collectable debit Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A 98.05%

Current Performance

In year collection 
amount

Total collectable debit Value

Q4 2016/17 £40,353,989.17 £41,099,923.27 98.19%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Amount of Council Tax 
collected in the year 
against the total 
collectable debit 

Indicator Status
Green  97%  Higher is better as we look to collect as much Performance has exceeded the end of year target. The previous 

P
age 49



16

of the Council Tax debit as possible year’s figures are not available for comparison as this was before the 
council migrated to the Covalent system.

Indicator New Homes - Affordable Trend Chart

 

Same Period Last Year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2015/16 N/A N/A 37

Current Performance

Numerator Denominator Value

Q4 2016/17 N/A N/A 2

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Number of affordable 
homes completed in the 
District the period 

 

 

 

Higher is better as we look to increase the 
number of affordable properties in the District 

There were two affordable homes completed in March. These were 
shared equity properties in Spalding.
The previous year’s figures are not available for comparison as this 
was before the council migrated to the Covalent system.

 

P
age 50



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Rob Walker, Executive Director Place

To: Performance Monitoring Panel – 16 May 2017

(Author: Emily Holmes Communities Manager)

Subject: Swimming Pool and Leisure Facilities Contract Task Group – update on 
progress of recommendations

Purpose:     To provide Members with an update on the recommendations

Recommendation(s): 

 
1) That the content of the report be noted

2) That further updates are provided to the Performance Monitoring Panel on an annual basis

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 In November 2016, the recommendations from the Final Report of the Swimming Pool 
and Leisure Facilities Contract Task Group were approved by the Cabinet.  On 7 February 
2017 an update on the six recommendations was given to the Performance Monitoring 
Panel with a report progress thus far.

1.2   The Panel discussed outstanding areas of local concern, namely cleanliness and 
maintenance and considered the importance of using the contract sanctions available 
where necessary.  An update was requested for the May 2017 meeting of the Panel.

1.3   In addition to the progress updates already provided, there have been a number of areas 
of progress further progress as set out below.

1.4   A schedule of additional site visits has been created and weekly monitoring inspections 
are taking place across the ‘site’.  These are detailed with a strong focus on cleanliness 
and maintenance.   Any identified areas of concern are addressed immediately and 
followed up with the contractor to check that any requisite action has been completed.  
Inspection records are stored centrally and assessed for recurring issues which may 
warrant further action or contractual sanction.

1.5   An internal audit was undertaken in March 2017 to assess contract management 
arrangements.  The audit recognised the new measures put in place, including the 
introduction of a more proactive and detailed approach to monitoring, the production of 
written guidance for site inspections and that default templates are available should they 
be required.  The audit suggested that a contract monitoring manual be developed to 
collate the information, assist with managing the contract and have clear guidance in 
place to assist in the event of cover being needed for contract monitoring.  This manual is 
now being prepared.

1.6   Since the meeting of the Performance Monitoring Panel in February 2107, five 
Improvement Required Notices have been issued.   Issues that needed to be resolved 
included perished rubber seals, tiles that needed replacing, signage improvements, un-

Page 51

Agenda Item 10.



stocked consumables, litter  and cleanliness issues in some areas,   A written response 
was received from the contractor to address the areas of concern and at a subsequent re-
inspection [within seven days], the remedial action was recorded and determined to be 
effective.

1.7   Monthly contract meetings take place which review significant areas across the contract: 
including; health and safety, customer feedback, quality management, programme 
delivery and development, staffing, training, safeguarding, performance and corrective 
action.   This is a further opportunity for additional site checks.

1.8    A number of improvements have been implemented by the contractor since February 
2017.  These include;

 The appointment of a dedicated cleaner for peak times at the pool;
 Additional support from a Central Property Team and Regional Director to 

implement remedial maintenance work;
 Completion of the ladies change floor replacement on 2 Feb 2017;
 Completion of the male change floor refurbishment on 13 March 2017;
 Work scheduled for the school change to start on 30 May 2017 and be completed 

during the school holidays;
 A specialist floor to ceiling deep clean will be undertaken ready for the Summer 

season;
 New cleaning chemicals have been introduced across the facilities;
 A detailed maintenance log is now in place;
 Staff have been re-trained in key areas and where identified issues are dated, these 

can be tracked back to be addressed with staff;
 A staff restructure was undertaken at the pool to review resources and additional 

positions have been created to cover peak time and to oversee improved daily 
operations at the site.

1.9   Feedback continues to be important to measure the impact of changes made.  The 
feedback and comments log is reviewed on a fortnightly basis and as a snapshot, 
between 27 February and 24 April 2017 there were 16 positive comments regarding 
cleanliness and maintenance and 5 negative.  The negative issues were rectified quickly.  
Examples included a customer who reported an issue with un-stocked consumables in the 
changing room, this was replenished immediately, the following week the same customer 
left positive feedback that this being fully stocked and cleanliness was improved.  An 
incident of mud on the floor was reported and this was addressed immediately by the 
cleaner on site working through the changing areas.  Positive comments surrounded the 
new flooring and the cleanliness being maintained and the pool temperature being 
comfortable.  There has been positive recognition of the impact of the additional cleaning 
via social media and resident communication direct to the Council.

1.10   Customer feedback is valuable and the variety of ways of getting in touch will be further 
promoted.  In addition, officers and contractor will continue to develop ways to provide 
feedback and customer engagement.

1.11  Over the coming months, there will be further work on improvements across the contract 
including the implementation of the audit recommendation for the contract procedure 
manual, opportunities to meet with regular hirers and users of the facilities and to 
development of the activity and offer within the facility.

Page 52



1.12  There have been no recent press enquiries or social media activity regarding shortfalls in 
service provision or standards that would be addressed the management of the contract.

1.13  Since the last update in February the contract management arrangements have been 
strengthened.  There is a robust monitoring process in place and clear audit trails.  
Improvement Required Notices have been served for the first time and the contract has 
been proactively managed to improve the service.  Results have been positive so far but it 
is recognised that there is more work to do and further improvements to be made.  The 
new contract monitoring measures will continue and there will be an increase focus on 
performance monitoring of the contract and service provided.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Do nothing.

2.2 Note the contents of the report.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 It is recommended that the contents of this report are noted and that members of the 
Performance Monitoring Panel have assurance that the management of the leisure 
contract has been strengthened and that we are starting to see improvement in the quality 
of service provided.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The measures put in place following the Task Group will; 

Lead to an increase in customer satisfaction, a decrease in complaints and concerns 
raised and an improvement in service standards.

Improve evidencing and performance management of the contract with effective reporting.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1        Contracts

5.1.1 Contract Management procedures have been clarified and improved working practices 
implemented.  Sanctions on the contract have been and will continue to be used robustly 
where necessary.

5.1.2 The Contract Management Manual recommended through the audit process will be 
developed to further support the monitoring and performance managing of this contract.

5.2       Corporate Priorities

5.2.1 The provision of a Leisure offer contributes to the Council’s Corporate priorities of

- To develop safer, stronger, healthier and more independent communities while 
protecting the most vulnerable

- To have pride in South Holland by supporting the district and residents to develop and 
thrive

- To encourage the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth.

Page 53



The improved contract monitoring arrangements in place supports the provision of the 
right services, at the right time and in the right way.

5.3  Crime and Disorder 

5.3.1 There are no implications from this report.

5.4 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.4.1 There are no implications from this report.

5.5 Financial 

5.5.1 There are no implications from this report.

5.6 Health & Wellbeing

5.6.1 There are no implications from this report.

5.7        Reputation 

5.7.1 The service delivered through the Leisure Contract will continue to be robustly monitored, 
to resolve issues quickly, make necessary improvements and address contract 
compliance issues with appropriate sanctions.  This is important for both the reputation of 
the Council and the contractor and there is commitment from both organisations to 
maintain the improvements made to date and continue to make progress.

5.8       Risk Management 

5.8.1 The centres are well used and at peak times, particularly at the pool, there is heavy traffic 
through the facility and the changing areas.  These peak times are when customer 
concerns about cleanliness are likely to be raised. To mitigate against this and maintain the 
appropriate standards, the additional cleaning resources are deployed during these times.

5.8.2 Health and Safety is an area that is monitored through the monthly contract meetings and 
updated in between meetings when necessary.    The contractor’s statutory compliance 
report which documents important checks including; boiler servicing, emergency lighting, air 
handling, fire alarms, disabled access equipment, water quality and asbestos have been 
reviewed in the monthly contract meeting and shared with the Council’s Health and Safety 
Advisor.  The latest health and safety audits carried out across the contract resulted in 
100% at Pool and 99% at the dry side Complex.

5.9      Safeguarding

5.9.1 The Quest Inspection for the Castle Sports Complex undertaken in November 2016 rated 
the site as ‘Good’ for the Safeguarding module assessment.  All staff have been trained 
and Safeguarding issues are monitored during the monthly contract meetings.

5.10 Staffing

5.10.1 Additional resources and officer time have been allocated to undertake the weekly 
unannounced site inspections. A rota and schedule of inspections in place.

Page 54



5.10.2 Staffing levels for the contractor at the pool were reviewed as part of the improvement 
work and more resources have been allocated to the swimming pool including an 
additional Duty Manager post and dedicated cleaner post.

5.11 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.11.1 Stakeholder and user feedback is important to help monitor the quality of provision, the 
comments log is reviewed on a fortnightly basis and

5.11.2 This is an area that will continue to be developed using both digital methods and 
engagement and scheduled meetings with regular users of the facility.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 Services are provided for all those living, working or visiting the district.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None.

Background papers:- Final Report of the Swimming Pool and Leisure Facilities Contract 
Task Group

Minutes of the Performance Monitoring Panel 

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Emily Holmes, Communities Manager
Telephone Number: 01775 76 44 69
Email: eholmes@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Leisure Centre Task Group Update

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



Castle Leisure Centre Task Group Update – May 2017

Recommendations Action to date

a. That a full time cleaner is considered by
1Life as part of their annual budget
allocations. It is evident that additional
hours are required for the proactive
cleaning of the swimming pool facility, in
particular the changing room areas, in
order to adhere to the requirements of
the contract;

All staff have cleaning duties in their job 
description.

Additional dedicated pool changing room 
cleaning resource was requested by the 
1Life Contract Manager.  

 A new team member was appointed and 
commenced duties on 21 February 2017.  
This is providing an additional cover at peak 
evening times and Saturday morning.

Regional management have also approved 
an external contractor deep clean to assist 
with problem areas.  This will take place 
following the school change refurbishment 
work in June.  Additional cleansing and 
cosmetic maintenance work has taken place.

New cleaning chemicals have been sourced, 
staff have been trained and these chemicals 
are being used.

b. That contract management of the site
improves with a formally recorded daily
and weekly monitoring regime and that
should standards fall short of the
requirements within the contract, the
contract warning system is to be followed
through and be robustly pursued by the
contract manager;

A daily and weekly monitoring regime is in 
place on site.

There is a Daily and weekly cleaning 
schedule which must be completed. Failure 
to sign these off could result in disciplinary 
action.

The 1Life Contract Manager has developed 
a more detailed list for internal inspections 
that duty managers are to complete.

These are viewed at contract monitoring 
meetings.

Additional resource has been committed 
internally, with council officers making 
additional weekly inspection visits to monitor 
the service delivered.  These are detailed 
with a strong focus on cleanliness and 
maintenance.

5 Improvement Required Notices have been 
issued to date and remedial action was 
recorded and determined to be effective.

If standards fall short, further Improvement 
Required Notices or Default notices will be 
served.  Monitoring of these will be included 
in the Strategic Board meetings with 1Life 
Managing Director.
Page 57



c. That staff within the facilities record and
notify management of any repairs
required on a daily basis and that these
are dealt with in a timely manner. In
addition, all outstanding repairs and
maintenance should be undertaken
promptly to improve standards at the
leisure facilities;

There is an Inspection sheet for logging all 
maintenance issues or cleanliness issues.

A new loose sheet log has also been created 
for main hirers or regular clubs at the facility 
to document any concerns.

These are reviewed at the monthly contract 
meetings against the contract.

Minor maintenance issues are recorded on 
the weekly inspection visit sheet and 
reviewed for progress.

In addition, the contractor’s statutory 
compliance report which documents 
important maintenance and service checks is 
reviewed in contract meetings.

d. That the blue overshoe policy is reviewed
immediately and a new, more effective
policy is put in place within three months;

This has been reviewed and seriously 
considered.  A suitable alternative is not 
available at this time. Blue overshoes are 
industry standard.

Consideration was also given to other 
physical measures, such as a turnstile to 
ensure that each person entering the 
changing room area puts on the overshoes 
but this has been discounted due to 
emergency access in and out.

Additional signage has been installed and 
reminder information has been given to swim 
school members.

New overshoe dispensers were installed 
outside the changing room entrance doors 
and customers are being requested to wear 
the blue overshoes – this has been positively 
recognised by pool users.

e. That these recommendations are
allocated to an identified officer to ensure
they are actioned and that an update is
received by the Performance Monitoring
Panel on actions against these at 7
February 2017 meeting; and

The Communities Manager has responsibility 
for all of these actions.

f. That the Performance Monitoring Panel is
involved in the consultation stage of any
future option appraisals in respect to
Leisure Facilities provision in South
Holland as detailed

This work has not yet commenced.

Page 58



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Shared Executive Manager, Governance – Mark Stinson

To: Performance Monitoring Panel – 16 May 2017

Author: Christine Morgan – Democratic Services Officer

Subject: Performance Monitoring Panel Work Programme

Purpose: To set out the Work Programme of the Performance Monitoring Panel

Recommendation:

That the Panel gives consideration to the report and identifies any issues for discussion.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 This report records the issues for consideration that have been identified by the Panel for 
inclusion on its Work Programme.

1.2 Issues

1.2.1 Appendix A sets out the dates of future Panel meetings along with proposed items for 
consideration.  These items were either originally suggested by councillors or are being 
referred to the Panel from officers or the Cabinet.  This appendix will be updated as new 
items are identified.

1.2.2 Appendix B sets out the task groups that have been identified by the Panel.  The table 
shows:

 The name of the task group
 What it wants to achieve
 Key dates
 Membership of the task group
 When the task group will be reporting back to the Panel

1.2.3 It is hoped that in presenting the information in this way, and by having the report as a 
standing item on the agenda, it will record the issues identified by the Panel and provide the 
opportunity for councillors to monitor the progress of its Work Programme.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To note and consider the current status of the Work Programme.

2.2 To do nothing.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 To allow councillors to feed into the Panel’s calendar of Work Programme items and the 
Work Programme on a regular basis, to ensure that they stay relevant and up to date.

Page 59

Agenda Item 12.



4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The calendar of Work Programme items and the Work Programme will provide councillors 
with up to date and relevant information.  Timelines for various calendar items and 
proposed task groups within the Work Programme are included within the appendices.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 There are no direct carbon footprint and environmental issue implications associated with 
this report.  As individual items are progressed through the work programme, their carbon 
footprint and environmental issue implications will be assessed.  

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 There are no direct constitution and legal implications associated with this report.  As 
individual items are progressed through the work programme, their constitution and legal 
implications will be assessed.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 There are no direct contract implications associated with this report.  As individual items are 
progressed through the work programme, their contract implications will be assessed.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 In identifying issues for inclusion on the Work Programme, councillors consider the 
suitability of the subject, taking into account such considerations as whether the issue is 
strategic and significant and whether it is likely to lead to effective outcomes.  One of the 
indicators against which each potential task group is scored identifies how strongly the topic 
links to the Council’s key aims and priorities. 

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 There are no direct crime and disorder implications associated with this report.  As 
individual items are progressed through the work programme, their crime and disorder 
implications will be assessed.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 There are no direct equality and diversity and human rights implications associated with this 
report.  As individual items are progressed through the work programme, their equality and 
diversity and human rights implications will be assessed.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 There are no direct financial implications associated with this report. As individual items are 
progressed through the work programme, their financial implications will be assessed.

5.8 Health and Wellbeing

5.8.1 There are no direct health and wellbeing implications associated with this report.  As 
individual items are progressed through the work programme, their health and wellbeing 
implications will be assessed.

Page 60



5.9 Reputation

5.9.1 There are no direct reputational implications associated with this report. As individual items 
are progressed through the work programme, any reputational implications for the Authority 
will be assessed.

5.10 Risk Management 

5.10.1 There are no direct risk management implications associated with this report.  As individual 
items are progressed through the work programme, their risk management implications will 
be assessed.

5.11 Safeguarding

5.11.1 There are no direct safeguarding implications associated with this report.  As individual 
items are progressed through the work programme, their safeguarding implications will be 
assessed.

5.12 Staffing

5.12.1 There are no direct staffing implications associated with this report.  As individual items are 
progressed through the work programme, their staffing implications will be assessed.

5.13 Stakeholders / Consultation  / Timescales

5.13.1 There are no direct stakeholder/consultation/timescale implications associated with this 
report.  As individual items are progressed through the work programme, their 
stakeholder/consultation/timescale implications will be assessed.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 When a task group is considered for inclusion on the Panel’s Work Programme, it is 
assessed against criteria covering ‘Importance’, ‘Impact’ and ‘Value for Money’.  The 
‘Impact’ and ‘Value for Money’ score indicators consider how strongly the issue will affect a 
ward(s), customer group(s) or service area(s).  Only issues scoring highly will be included 
on the Work Programme.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None.

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer

Name and Post: Christine Morgan
Telephone Number: 01775 764454
Email: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

Page 61



This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Work Programme Calendar
Appendix B Task Group Work Programme 2016/17

Page 62



 APPENDIX A

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL – CALENDAR OF WORK PROGRAMME 
ITEMS

Date of Meeting Agenda items

16 May 2017  End of Year Performance Report – Quarter 4, 2016-17
 Discussion regarding drainage in the South Holland area – 

representatives from a local board and national strategic 
partnership to attend.

 Swimming Pool and Leisure Facilities Contract Task Group – 
update on progress of recommendations (last update received 
7 February 2017)

 Re-letting of Void Properties Task Group – Final Report TBC
4 July 2017
5 September 
2017

 Crime and Disorder – Update report on community safety and 
how it is being delivered through the various tiers of Groups 
and Panels (including the East Lincs CSP and newly formed 
Lincolnshire CSP) – Update to be provided every six months 
by the Portfolio Holder for Community Development 

 Central Contracts Team and Contract Register management – 
report outlining how the proposed new team will operate, 
covering concerns raised previously by the Panel and how 
they would be dealt with by the new team.  Members also to 
consider how the Panel should review the Contracts Register 
in the future. (Phil Adams).

7 November 
2017
6 February 
2018
1 May 2018

For consideration later in the year

 Note: Following consideration of the Key Decision Plan, PMP and PDP have 
requested that a special Joint Meeting will be held to discuss the setting up 
of the South Holland Building Consultancy prior to it being considered by 
Cabinet (date to be confirmed).

****************
To be considered annually:

The Sir Halley Stewart Playing Field Task Group presented its Final Report to 
Council on 21 January 2015.  Its first recommendation was:

That the Council (i) advises the Charity Commission that the Task Group has 
considered the Commission’s Guidance on public benefit and is satisfied that the 
Council is compliant; (ii) provides a copy of this report to the Commission in order to 
outline the actions proposed by the Council; and (iii) invites  the Performance 
Monitoring Panel to appoint a Task Group on an annual (single meeting) basis 

Page 63



for the specific purpose of ensuring that the Council remains compliant with 
Charity Commission Guidance.

Membership of Task Group to be agreed and meet on an annual basis to 
consider the issue.

Page 64



APPENDIX B

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL – WORK PROGRAMME 2016/2017

Name of Task Group What the Task Group wants to achieve Date added 
to Work 
Programme

Date Work 
Commenced    

Membership 
of Task 
Group

Proposed date of 
report to Panel

Swimming Pool and 
Leisure Centre Contract 
Task Group

To review the Spalding swimming pool and 
leisure centre, specifically:
 To consider performance, in relation to the 

contract, by the Authority and the 
contractor, particularly with reference to 
building maintenance and cleanliness, 
promotion of the facilities and reinvestment 
in the facilities;

 To look at the Council’s performance in 
monitoring the leisure facilities; and

 To learn from the outcomes of this scrutiny, 
to inform future contracts and contract 
monitoring.

1 December 
2015

21 January 
2016

J R Astill
T A Carter
G K Dark 
(Chairman)
J L King
A M Newton

30 August 2016

To Cabinet 8 
November 2016

Response and 
update on 
progress PMP 
4/2/17

Performance of the re-
letting of voids Task 
Group

To review the Council’s performance of re-
letting void properties and to make 
recommendations to help improve

15 June 
2016

3 October 
2016

GR Aley 
(Chairman)
MD Booth
CJTH Brewis
TA Carter

TBC – Early 2017 
municipal year

Sir Halley Stewart Playing 
Field Task Group

Recommendation of the original Task Group to 
appoint a Task Group on an annual (single 
meeting) basis for the specific purpose of 
ensuring that the Council remained compliant 

15 June 
2016

Upon 
completion of 
Voids Task 
Group

GR Aley
JR Astill
GK Dark
PC Foyster

P
age 65



Name of Task Group What the Task Group wants to achieve Date added 
to Work 
Programme

Date Work 
Commenced    

Membership 
of Task 
Group

Proposed date of 
report to Panel

with Charity Commission Guidance. AM Newton

Effectiveness of CCTV 
Task Group

Purpose of Review – To establish the current 
situation with regard to CCTV and make 
recommendations to Cabinet on the way 
forward.

Terms of Reference – To examine the 
effectiveness of the SHDC CCTV service and 
prospects for future provision.

Panel received update on 8 April 2014 from the 
Portfolio Holder for Localism and Big Society 
on the position regarding CCTV.  Performance 
information will be available on the new system 
in the future, once it becomes operational.  
The Task Group will remain in operation to 
scrutinise performance and will start to do 
this once the information becomes 
available.

6 November 
2012 

21 November 
2012 

B Alcock
M Howard
R M Rudkin
D J Wilkinson 
(Chairman)

  
Membership 
to be 
considered 
following 
District 
Council 
Election 

Interim report to 
PMP 29 January 
2013 
Interim report to 
Cabinet 19 
February 2013.
Tracking of 
recommendations 
to PMP 26 March 
2013
Updates to PMP:
8 April 2014
16 September 
2014
25 November 
2014
16 September 
2015

Leisure Facilities Task 
Group

Joint Task Group 
incorporating members of 
the Performance 

To make recommendations, regarding the 
present and future leisure     provision in South 
Holland.

1. By establishing what leisure provision the 
District Council presently provides, 
examining costs, resident satisfaction and 

30 May 
2012

21 January 
2014

G R Aley 
(Chairman)
D Ashby
A Casson
G K Dark
R Perkins
S Slade

Interim report 
presented to joint 
PMP/PDP – 19 
August 2014 
To Cabinet 7 
October 2014
Tracking of 

P
age 66



Name of Task Group What the Task Group wants to achieve Date added 
to Work 
Programme

Date Work 
Commenced    

Membership 
of Task 
Group

Proposed date of 
report to Panel

Monitoring and Policy 
Development Panels. 

competitiveness in order to identify ways of 
increasing income or reducing expenditure;

2. To understand what the District Council 
wishes to provide and what the public and 
major employers need; 

3. To examine the options for future provision 
either to be supplied by the Council, the 
private sector or shared management.

Agreed at PMP 25 November 2014 – A date 
for completion of the Business Plan looking at 
Leisure Services provision, being drawn 
together by the Community Development and 
Health Manager, be confirmed by the Assistant 
Director Community, and that a joint meeting of 
the Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy 
Development Panel, for consideration of the 
document, be arranged.

Following consideration of the update to PMP 
on 3 March 2015 (PDP members were invited 
to attend), it was agreed that leisure provision 
must be a priority for the Council, and must be 
considered as a priority by the next 
administration following the District Council 
election.

E Sneath
S Wilkinson

Lead Officer: 
Phil Adams

Membership 
to be 
considered 
following 
District 
Council 
Election

recommendations 
to PMP 25 
November 2014
Update on leisure 
options to PMP 3 
March 2015 (PDP 
members to 
attend PMP 
meeting)

P
age 67



Name of Task Group What the Task Group wants to achieve Date added 
to Work 
Programme

Date Work 
Commenced    

Membership 
of Task 
Group

Proposed date of 
report to Panel

Scrutiny of the Authority’s 
Emergency Plan

To scrutinise the robustness of the Emergency 
Plan.

To be considered when there is more capacity 
in the Work Programme to undertake a new 
Task Group – agreed at PMP 25 November 
2014 that Task Group be set up upon 
completion of the Sir Halley Stewart Playing 
Field Task Group.

8 April 2014 

The effectiveness of 
management companies 
set up to undertake 
maintenance on 
residential estates 
throughout the district 
past, present and for the 
future.

Scope to be confirmed. 25 
November 
2014

To be 
confirmed

To be 
confirmed

To be confirmedP
age 68


	Agenda
	2.a) Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel
	2.b) Performance Monitoring Panel
	7. Key Decision Plan
	Plan

	9. Performance Overview Report - Quarter 4 2016/17
	Appendix 1 for Quarter 4 2016-17 Performance Overview

	10. Swimming Pool and Leisure Facilities Contract Task Group
	Appendix 1 for Leisure Facilities Update

	12. Performance Monitoring Panel Work Programme
	Appendix A
	Appendix B


